#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC 08-887** 

ALLEN W. COX, Appellant,

v.

# STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0005584

MARIA D. CHAMBERLIN Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 664251

NATHANIEL E. PLUCKER
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar No. 0862061
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE
3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544

# **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### Procedural History

On February 5, 1999, Mr. Cox was charged by indictment with one count of first-degree murder and related offenses. The jury rendered a guilty verdict on March 14, 2000, and recommended a death sentence on March 18, 2000. Death was imposed, and the sentencing order entered, on July 24, 2000. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Cox's convictions and sentences on direct appeal. Cox v. State, 819 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2002), *cert. denied*, Cox v. Florida, 537 U.S. 1120 (2003). Mr. Cox filed a post-conviction motion for relief under Fla. Crim. R. 3.851 on January 6, 2004, and the motion was denied on April 19, 2005.

On May 13, 2005, Mr. Cox appealed the denial of his 3.851 post-conviction motion to the Florida Supreme Court. The initial brief was filed on January 12, 2006. Following oral arguments on December 7, 2006, the Florida Supreme Court denied relief on July 5, 2007, and denied a motion for rehearing on September 25, 2007. Cox v. State, 966 So.2d 337 (Fla. 2007). Thereafter, Mr. Cox timely filed a petition for habeas corpus relief in Federal District Court on October 17, 2007. That petition is still pending.

On October 1, 2007, Mr. Cox filed a Successive Motion To Vacate Judgments of Sentence. ROA P.1-26. The State filed its Response on November 26, 2007. ROA

P.43-66. The Circuit Court held a case management conference on February 29, 2008. ROA P.119-151. The lower court summarily denied Mr. Cox's successive Motion for Post Conviction Relief on March 24, 2008, and a motion for rehearing on April 8, 2008. ROA P.94-9, 111-2. Mr. Cox timely filed his Notice of Appeal. This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Mr. Cox raised four claims in his Successive Motion for Postconviction Relief: 1) Newly discovered evidence proves execution by lethal injection violates the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment and therefore Mr. Cox's death sentence is unconstitutional, 2) Florida Statute 27.702 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied in violation of the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Florida and Federal Constitution, 3) Mr. Cox's current and future health issues raise a substantial probability that Florida's method of lethal injection raises an unconstitutional risk of wanton and unnecessary pain, 4) the Florida Department of Corrections' Procedures, coupled with Florida Statute 945.10 which prohibits Mr. Cox from knowing the identity of specified members of the execution team, violates his constitutional rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. In addition, Mr. Cox filed numerous documents in support of these claims. The lower court denied all of these claims without an evidentiary hearing. ROA P.94-9.

# **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(d) provides that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on postconviction claims for relief unless the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(B) applies the same standard to successive postconviction motions in capital cases. In reviewing a trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief without an evidentiary hearing, this Court must accept all allegations in the motion as true to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record. Hodges v. State, 885 So.2d 338, 355 (Fla. 2004) (quoting Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999)). To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002) (quoting Foster v. Moore, 810 So.2d 910, 914 (Fla. 2002)).

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING ALLEN COX'S SUCCESSIVE 3.851 MOTION AS A MATTER OF LAW. THE COURT FAILED TO ADDRESS THE ENTIRE RECORD AND FAILED TO APPLY THE FACTS OF THE CASE TO THE LAW. THE LOWER COURT ALSO ERRED IN HOLDING THAT FLORIDA'S METHOD OF EXECUTION DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

The lower court erred as a matter of law in summarily denying Mr. Cox's motion. Mr. Cox alleged in his Motion that based on newly discovered evidence, Florida's procedures, training and method of lethal injection are unconstitutional. At the time Mr. Cox's motion was pending, this Court decided Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So.2d 326 (Fla. 2007) and Schwab v. State, 969 So.2d 318 (Fla. 2007). In Lightbourne, this Court explained the constitutional standard for addressing method of execution claims. In order for a method of execution to "constitute cruel or unusual punishment, it must involve 'torture or a lingering death' or the infliction of 'unnecessary and wanton pain.' . . . [A] punishment is not cruel and unusual if a state's protocol does not expose the prisoner to 'more than a negligible risk of being subjected to cruel and wanton infliction of pain,' . . . 'the mere possibility of human error or a technical malfunction cannot constitute a sufficient showing to meet this burden."

<u>Lightbourne v. McCollum</u>, 969 So.2d at 349 (internal citations omitted). The lower court relied on those rulings in denying Mr. Cox's motion.

However, during the pendency of Mr. Cox's appeal, the Supreme Court of the United States issued its decision in <u>Baze v. Rees</u>, -- U.S. --, 128 S. Ct. 1520, -- L. Ed. 2d. -- (2008). In <u>Baze</u>, the Supreme Court, in a plurality decision which addressed its punishment jurisprudence as far back as 1879, held that in order to prevail on a claim that a method of execution violates the Eighth Amendment, a petitioner must demonstrate that the particular method of carrying out a death sentence raises a "substantial risk of serious harm," or an "objectively intolerable risk of harm," that prevents prison officials from pleading that they were "subjectively blameless for purposes of the Eighth Amendment." <u>Baze v. Rees</u>, 128 S.Ct. at 1530-31 (*quoting Farmer v. Brennan*, 511 U.S. 825, 842, 846, and n.9, 114 S. Ct. 1970, 128 L.Ed.2d 811 (1994)). The Supreme Court explicitly rejected the "unnecessary risk standard." <u>Id</u>. at 1532. The Court explained that:

Simply because an execution method may result in pain, either by accident or as an inescapable consequence of death, does not establish the sort of "objectively intolerable risk of harm" that qualifies as cruel and unusual. In <u>Louisiana ex rel. Francis v. Resweber</u>, 329 U.S. 459, 67 S.Ct. 374, 91 L.Ed. 422 (1947), a plurality of the Court upheld a second attempt at executing a prisoner by electrocution after a mechanical malfunction had interfered with the first attempt. The principal opinion noted that "[a]ccidents happen for which no man is to blame," <u>Id</u>. at 462, 67 S.Ct. 374, and concluded that such "an accident, with no suggestion of

malevolence," <u>Id</u>. at 463, 67 S.Ct. 374, did not give rise to an Eighth Amendment violation, Id. at 463-464, 67 S.Ct. 374.

As Justice Frankfurter noted in a separate opinion based on the Due Process Clause, however, "a hypothetical situation" involving "a series of abortive attempts at electrocution" would present a different case. <u>Id.</u> at 471, 67 S.Ct. 374 (concurring opinion). In terms of our present Eighth Amendment analysis, such a situation-unlike an "innocent misadventure," <u>Id.</u> at 470, 67 S.Ct. 374 - would demonstrate an "objectively intolerable risk of harm" that officials may not ignore. See <u>Farmer</u>, 511 U.S., at 846, and n. 9, 114 S.Ct. 1970. In other words, an isolated mishap alone does not give rise to an Eighth Amendment violation, precisely because such an event, while regrettable, does not suggest cruelty, or that the procedure at issue gives rise to a "substantial risk of serious harm." <u>Id.</u> at 842, 114 S.Ct. 1970.

## Baze, 128 S.Ct. at 1531.

The Supreme Court further explained that such a showing can be made when a state refuses to adopt reasonably feasible alternatives if they "effectively address a 'substantial risk of serious harm.' To qualify, the alternative procedure must be feasible, readily implemented, and in fact significantly reduce a substantial risk of severe pain. If a State refuses to adopt such an alternative in the face of these documented advantages, without a legitimate penological justification for adhering to its current method of execution, then a State's refusal to change its method can be viewed as 'cruel and unusual' under the Eighth Amendment." <u>Baze</u>, 128 S.Ct. at 1532 (internal citations omitted).

Because Florida's Constitution was amended in 2002 to require this Court to interpret Florida's cruel and unusual punishment clause in conformity with the United States Supreme Court, this Court must apply the standard set out in <u>Baze</u> to its analysis of Mr. Cox's claim. Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So.2d at 334, 335.

In denying this claim, the lower court held that Mr. Cox had challenged Florida's lethal injection protocols as violating the Eighth Amendment and that Mr. Cox had alleged that newly discovered evidence established that Florida's use of lethal injection as a means of execution violated the Eighth Amendment. ROA P.95. The lower court then held that the first issue was precluded by this Court's rulings in Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000), finding lethal injection to be constitutional, and that the second issue was precluded by this Court's decisions in Schwab and Lightbourne. ROA P.95-6.

The lower court's ruling is erroneous for two reasons. First, the lower court did not have the benefit of the Supreme Court's ruling in <u>Baze</u> and therefore did not apply the proper standard. Second, the lower court incorrectly interpreted <u>Lightbourne</u> and <u>Schwab</u>, improperly finding that relief was barred because this Court had upheld "the lethal injection procedures currently in place in Florida, as actually administered," and therefore no challenges to the current protocols could be sustained. ROA P.96.

In his Motion, Mr. Cox set out sufficient facts, which must be accepted as true since the motion was summarily denied, to meet the standard established in <u>Baze</u>. Mr. Cox alleged that Florida's method of execution, as shown by the newly discovered evidence of the botched execution of Angel Diaz, testimony presented in the <u>Lightbourne</u> hearings, and the Governor's Commission on Lethal Injection, establishes that Florida's training methods and protocols create a substantial and objectively intolerable risk of harm.

Mr. Cox alleged that Florida's lethal injection procedures and its protocol effective August 1, 2007 (hereinafter August 2007 Protocol) are defective for the following reasons:

(1) The Florida Department of Corrections (hereinafter FDOC) screening of members of the execution team is inadequate, inconsistent and unreliable. FDOC has failed to set meaningful and adequate standards, qualifications or verifiable or documented safeguards in ensuring that meaningful qualifications or standards are met for the primary or secondary executioners, team members or medically trained personnel. By way of example, the executioner need merely be an adult who has undergone a criminal background check and who is sufficiently trained to administer the lethal chemicals. There is no other requirement and no description of the contents or method of training, who administers it or what qualifies as sufficient training. There is no way of knowing if the executioner is mentally ill, has a personality disorder, a drug and alcohol problem, pending legal troubles or whether he/she has been able to achieve a high school education. For example, the new protocols do not describe the manner in which the team warden who is in charge, will select the execution team members. The warden who was in charge of the last four executions by lethal injection, Warden Bryant, testified at the <u>Lightbourne</u> hearing. At the hearing, Warden Bryant described the following procedure: He is taken by a third person (whose name he stated he could not disclose per the confidentiality statute) to the place of employment of the medically qualified persons. He is shown their medical licenses and makes sure that they are valid, but admits that their names are blocked out. **Even the Warden does not know who the medically qualified persons are**. The unidentified third person literally points out to the Warden who the individuals are who will be serving as the "medically qualified persons for the upcoming execution. Then, when the "medically qualified persons arrive at the prison, Warden Bryant is able to recognize them **by sight** as being the same people who were pointed out to him.

There is nothing in the August 1, 2007 protocols to suggest that the "team warden, who by definition in the protocol has the final and ultimate decision making authority in every aspect of the lethal injection process, will know the identity of all of the members of his execution team. The new protocols still do not require the team warden to obtain the employment records, error rates, and proficiency testing of the execution team members;

(2) The FDOC has failed to ensure or implement meaningful training, supervision, or oversight, and/or verifiable or documented safeguards that training, supervision and oversight of the execution team/executioners and medically qualified personnel is met, which has created an undue risk of unnecessary pain during the execution procedure. By way of example, DOC personnel at the Lightbourne hearing testified that the executioners have no professional licensures or certifications, and no medical training or background, and the DOC training consisted of pushing empty syringes or, when the chemicals were actually used, emptying the syringes into a bucket, a method that would be inadequate to train clinically naive personnel to competently and reliably detect IV infiltration or other potential problems with the IV site. The August 1, 2007 protocols also state that there should be at a minimum, quarterly training sessions where all members of the execution team will be present. The protocols call for a written record of these training sessions, but do not state what should be included in the written record. Under the new protocols, it appears that it would be sufficient for the "team warden to state that a training occurred, without documenting who was present and what training they actually completed;

- (3) The FDOC has failed to conduct or implement meaningful oversight to ensure that executions are carried out in a lawful manner required accurate and reliable record keeping of the lethal injection procedures, including but not limited to time frames of the actual execution process, injection of chemicals, maintenance of the chemicals, participants roles and locations and documentation of unforeseen events and responses to those events. For example, while the new protocols do require some written records of activities, there is still not written record of when the lethal chemicals begin to flow, nor is there a written printout of the data from the heart monitors;
- (4) The FDOC has allowed improper mixing, preparation and administration of the lethal chemicals by unqualified execution team members, has failed to require accurate and reliable record keeping of the storage, mixing, preparation and administration of the chemicals, which has created an undue risk of unnecessary pain during the execution procedure. Further, the use of pancuronium bromide as a paralytic creates an undue and unnecessary risk that the inmate will experience excruciating and undue pain as he slowly suffocates to death but will be unable to move or speak to indicate that he is in pain. The use of pancuronium bromide is prohibited in the euthanasia of animals;
- (5) The FDOC execution chamber is an inadequate and poorly designed facility and clothing and other apparatus used to conceal the identities of the executioners and medically qualified personnel creates an undue risk of unnecessary pain and wanton suffering because it impairs the executioners and medically qualified personnel's ability to monitor intravenous infiltration and other potential problems. Deficiencies in the design and set up of the chamber which create an undue risk of unnecessary pain during the execution procedure include but are not limited to: inadequate lighting, the chemicals and the individual administering the chemicals are not in direct view, close

enough to or even in the same room with the inmate which creates an undue risk that the executioners will fail to detect difficulty or problems with anesthetic consciousness or intravenous access, which creates an undue risk of unnecessary pain. The syringes are kept in a syringe holder which is a departure from clinical practice and is not used in any other execution chamber in the country that Mr. Cox is aware of. The use of a syringe holder also creates the risk of unnecessary pain and undue suffering. FDOC has failed to obtain or require the use of a bispectral index monitor to monitor anesthetic depth as recommended by DOC's general counsel in the August 15, 2006 Dyehouse memorandum;

- (6) The FDOC has failed to ensure that properly trained, clinically experienced, certified and licensed medical professionals oversee and conduct the lethal injection procedure. The August 2007 Protocols fail to ensure or set minimal standards that execution team members and/or licensed medical professionals are qualified to properly monitor and/or adequately assess consciousness of the inmate, implement and monitor intravenous access, address medical issues likely to occur as a result of inadequate, compromised or failed intravenous access. FDOC has failed to obtain or require the presence of an anesthesiologist as outlined by DOC's general counsel in the August 15, 2006 Dyehouse memo;
- (7) The FDOC has failed to ensure a sufficient protocol to reasonably manage complications inherent in the lethal injection process. For example, there is nothing in the new protocols that defines a procedure for notification to the inmate or the inmate's counsel should the medical examination reveal any potential complications with venous access or any other aspect of the lethal injection other than to say that the team warden will resolve the issue. Nothing in the August 1, 2007 protocols addresses the possible remedies for complications noted in the medical examinations that take place a week prior to the execution. The protocols merely state that the "team warden will consult with the other team members that performed the evaluation and conclude what is the more suitable method of venous access (peripheral or femoral) for the lethal injection process given the individual circumstances of the condemned inmate based on all information provided. In addition, there is no provision for the inmate to have his own designated independent

physician or medically qualified professional present for the examination;

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