ALLEN W. COX,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-887 Lower Tribunal No. 99-249-CF DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 14087 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 stephen.ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court below properly summarily denied Cox's successive motion for post-conviction relief alleging that Florida's procedures for execution by lethal injection violate the Eighth Amendment proscription against cruel and unusual punishment.

Cox's challenges to the constitutionality of sections 27.702 and 945.10, Florida Statutes, are procedurally barred and without merit. Thus, summary denial was likewise appropriate.

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

LETHAL INJECTION CLAIM

Regarding Cox's lethal injection claim the trial court, following this Court's precedent, held:

This Court notes that the Florida Supreme Court has consistently upheld the constitutionality of the lethal injection process. See e.g., Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000). In Sims, the court noted the Defendant was attacking the details and procedures of the execution process. Id. at 666. The Court has consistently applied the holding in Sims to deny claims that lethal injection is unconstitutional. See e.g., Hill v. State, 921 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2006); Rutherford v. State, 926 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2006). . . . [Moreover,] the Florida Supreme Court has held, as recently as November of last year, that the lethal injection procedures currently in place in Florida, as actually administered, do not violate the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Schwab v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S687 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2007); Lightboume v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007); Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007). This Court finds that issue I of Defendant's Successive Motion to Vacate Judgements of Sentence is summarily DENIED.

(SPCR 96)(emphasis supplied).

Cox's primary claim asserts that the court below should not have rejected his argument that Florida's current procedures for execution by lethal injection violate the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. The summary denial of Cox's motion is a legal issue which is reviewed *de novo*. <u>State v. Coney</u>, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003) (holding

pure questions of law discernible from the record to be subject to *de novo* review).

As the following will show, Cox's per se challenge to "lethal injection" is procedurally barred and the claim regarding the constitutionality of lethal injection after the events that occurred during the execution of Angel Diaz is without merit.

First, lethal injection became a method of execution in 2000, and Cox could, and should, have raised any *per se* challenge to lethal injection within one year of the release of the <u>Sims v. State</u>, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000), decision in February of 2000. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2).

Furthermore, any per se challenge to lethal injection is not only procedurally barred, but also without merit. The court below rejected Cox's claim that Florida's current procedures for execution violate the Eighth Amendment, citing to <u>Lightbourne v.</u> <u>McCollum</u>, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), <u>cert. denied</u>, 128 S. Ct. 2485 (2008), and <u>Schwab v. State</u>, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007) (SPCR 96). Cox asserts that this was error, claiming that the United States Supreme Court decision in <u>Baze v. Rees</u>, 128 S. Ct. 1520 (2008), demonstrates that this Court applied an incorrect standard in <u>Lightbourne</u>. A review of the relevant cases, however, refutes this claim.

In <u>Henyard v. State</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S629 (Fla. Sept. 10,

2008), this Court stated:

Henyard presents the same argument previously denied by this Court in <u>Lightbourne and Schwab</u>. Henyard attempts to get around this by asserting the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Baze</u> sheds new light on this Court's decisions because the standard to review Eighth Amendment challenges was changed. A review of the Supreme Court's plurality opinion demonstrates otherwise.

In <u>Baze</u>, the Supreme Court addressed whether Kentucky's lethal injection protocol was unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment. 128 S. Ct. at 1526. The Court affirmed the Kentucky Supreme Court's decision, holding that Kentucky's protocol did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment. <u>Id.</u> This holding is the only portion of the opinion upon which the majority of the Court agreed.[fn7] The standard to be applied resulted in the splintered opinion of the Court.

[fn7]. See Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977) (stating that when the Court issues a decision where no rationale receives the vote of five justices, the holding of the Court is the "position taken by those members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest of grounds.") (quoting Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 169 n.15 (1976)). Courts have interpreted Marks differently to allow for either the narrowest holding in a particular case or the narrowest application of the standard applied to reach that holding, but it does not appear that any court would adopt Henyard's interpretation of Baze. Cf. United States v. Johnson, 467 F.3d 56, 60-65 (1st Cir. 2006) (discussing the application of Marks by federal courts to the Supreme Court's plurality decision in Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006)), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 375 (2007).

The plurality opinion, in which Chief Justice Roberts and Justices Kennedy and Alito joined, appropriate standard was one concluded the of "substantial risk of harm." Id. at 1531. The plurality explicitly rejected the "unnecessary risk" standard Henyard suggests. Id. Justices Thomas and Scalia concurred in judgment, stating that a method of execution violates the Eighth Amendment "if it is deliberately designed to inflict pain." 128 S. Ct. at 1556 (Thomas, J. concurring in the judgment). Justices Breyer, Ginsburg, and Souter agreed that "the degree of risk, magnitude of pain, and availability of alternatives must be considered." 128 S. Ct at 1563 (Breyer, J., concurring in the judgment); 128 S. Ct at 1568 (Ginsburg, J., dissenting).

We have previously concluded in <u>Lightbourne</u> and <u>Schwab</u> that the Florida protocols do not violate any of the possible standards, and that holding cannot conflict with the narrow holding in <u>Baze</u>. Furthermore, we have specifically rejected the argument that Florida's current lethal injection protocol carries "a substantial, foreseeable, or unnecessary risk of pain." Lightbourne, 969 So. 2d at 353. Accordingly, we reject Henyard's argument.

Henyard, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at 631-32.

As this Court recognized in <u>Henyard</u>, there is one standard to be taken from <u>Baze</u>; when the Court is split, the holding of the Court "may be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds." <u>Marks</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977). This principle means that the appropriate standard to be applied from <u>Baze</u> requires a defendant to show that a particular method of execution presents a "substantial risk of serious harm," or an

"objectively intolerable risk of harm." <u>Baze</u>, 128 S. Ct. at 1531.

The "substantial risk of serious harm" was one of several standards discussed and applied in <u>Lightbourne</u>. That case, of course, considered the constitutionality of Florida's current lethal injection procedures following an extensive evidentiary hearing in the circuit court. This Court concluded in <u>Lightbourne</u> and reaffirmed in <u>Henyard</u> under the protocols adopted by the Department of Corrections in August, 2007, Florida's procedures do not present a substantial risk of harm and do not violate the Eighth Amendment. <u>Henyard</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at 631; Lightbourne, 969 So. 2d at 353.

This Court in Henyard also rejected the claim that Lightbourne must be reconsidered because this Court applied a higher, "inherent cruelty" standard in upholding Florida's current protocols. This assertion fails to acknowledge that this Court discussed and applied several standards. In fact, this Court expressly considered and rejected the argument that the adoption of a different standard in Baze would affect this Court's ruling to uphold the constitutionality of Florida's execution procedures. Lightbourne, 969 So. 2d at 352 ("Alternatively, even if the Court did review this claim under a 'foreseeable risk' standard as Lightbourne proposes or `an

unnecessary' risk as the <u>Baze</u> petitioners propose, we likewise would find that Lightbourne has failed to carry his burden of showing an Eighth Amendment violation").

In <u>Lightbourne</u> this Court specifically found that "Lightbourne has not shown a substantial, foreseeable or unnecessary risk of pain." <u>Lightbourne</u>, 969 So. 2d at 353. While <u>Baze</u> did indeed reject the lower "unnecessary risk" standard, this Court found that Lightbourne had not met that standard or the higher "substantial risk" standard which <u>Baze</u> did apply. Clearly, Cox cannot demonstrate any Eighth Amendment violation under <u>Lightbourne</u> or <u>Baze</u>.

Cox argues that Florida's execution procedures may be deemed cruel and unusual if there is a refusal to adopt a procedure that reduces a substantial risk of pain (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 6). Cox's suggested alternative procedure is that of veterinary euthanasia specifically rejected in <u>Baze</u> (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 13-14). "[V]eterinary practice for animals is not an appropriate guide to humane practices for humans." Baze 128 S. Ct. at 1536.

The <u>Baze</u> decision itself affirms that Florida's procedures comply with the Eighth Amendment. In <u>Baze</u>, the Court specifically held that protocols similar to those used in Kentucky "would not create a risk that meets this standard," and

Florida's protocols provide greater protection than Kentucky's protocols, thereby reducing the risk of unnecessary harm. See Baze, 128 S. Ct. at 1537 (discussing standard); Baze, 128 S. Ct. at 1570 (Ginsburg, J., dissenting, noting that Florida has adopted safeguards for protection not found in Kentucky's protocols). Clearly, Baze offers no support for the claim that Florida's procedures are constitutionally flawed, or that this Court misapplied the Eighth Amendment in Lightbourne. See also Sexton v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S86, S691 (Fla. Sept. 18, 2008) ("This same method of execution, consisting of lethal injection of the same three-drug combination under similar protocols, has also been found by the United States Supreme Court to be constitutional.").

As Lightbourne explains, the current protocols, adopted in August 2007, represent a concerted effort to improve the administration of the death penalty following recognition of weaknesses identified both by the Governor's Commission and the Department of Corrections following the Diaz execution. the presumption of deference Lightbourne affirms to the branch in administering lethal executive injection. Lightbourne, 969 So. 2d at 352; Provenzano v. State, 739 So. 2d 1150, 1153 (Fla. 1999); Buenoano v. State, 565 So. 2d 309, 311 (Fla. 1990).

The court below properly denied relief, applying binding precedent from <u>Lightbourne</u> and <u>Schwab</u>. <u>Baze</u> has now confirmed that Florida's procedures are constitutionally valid and this Court has concluded in <u>Henyard</u> that the holding in <u>Lightbourne</u> does not conflict with <u>Baze</u>. This Court must affirm the denial of relief on this issue.

ARGUMENT II

THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 27.702

In summarily denying Cox's claim that Florida Statutes, section 27.702 is unconstitutional, the trial court found that the claim was procedurally barred and lacked merit (SPCR 96). The trial court citing to this Court's decisions in <u>Diaz v.</u> <u>State</u>, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006), and <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Butterworth v. Kenny</u>, 714 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1998), summarily denied relief (SPCR 96).

Cox challenges the denial of his claim that Section 27.702, Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional. The constitutionality of a statute and the propriety of finding a procedural bar are legal questions, subject to *de novo* review. <u>Rubio v. State</u>, 967 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 2007); <u>State v. Coney</u>, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

Cox does not address the trial court's finding of a procedural bar on this issue. A challenge to the facial

validity of this statute could have been brought previously; this statute has existed for over a decade and was specifically upheld against a similar challenge in 1998. Cox's claim is thus procedurally barred.

In addition, this claim has no merit. Cox's specific challenge to section 27.702 concerns the prohibition against Capital Collateral Regional Counsels from filing civil lawsuits in federal court. In 1998, this Court decided <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Butterworth v. Kenny</u>, 714 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1998), holding that section 27.702 prohibited the Capital Collateral Regional Counsels from pursuing a civil rights action which had been filed to challenge the constitutionality of Florida's electric chair as a method of execution. In <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1154-55 (Fla. 2006), this Court upheld section 27.702 against the same challenge Cox presents:

Diaz contends that his due process rights have been violated because his CCRC attorneys cannot file a section 1983 action in federal court to challenge injection procedures Florida's lethal and lethal injection as a method of execution. Diaz further alleges that he has no other avenue available to bring such a federal challenge in light of the holding in Hill v. McDonough, 126 S. Ct. 2096, 165 L. Ed. 2d 44 (2006). We conclude that Diaz has misinterpreted the Hill decision. In Hill, the defendant filed a federal action under section 1983 to challenge the lethal injection procedure as cruel and unusual punishment. The federal district court and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals both denied Hill's claim, holding that his section 1983 claim was the functional equivalent of a habeas petition. Because Hill had

sought federal habeas relief earlier, his section 1983 action was deemed successive and thus procedurally barred. Hill, 126 S. Ct. at 2097. However, the United States Supreme Court reversed and held that a challenge the constitutionality of the lethal injection to procedure did not have to be brought in a habeas petition, but could proceed under section 1983. Id. However, contrary to Diaz's assertions at 2098. here, the United States Supreme Court did not hold that a constitutional challenge to lethal injection procedures could not be brought under а habeas petition.

Accordingly, Diaz did have an alternative avenue for challenging the lethal injection procedure in federal court, but did not utilize it. In 1999, Diaz filed a federal habeas petition in federal district court. The petition was pending until January 2004. On January 14, 2000, section 922.105 was amended to provide for lethal injection as the method of execution See ch. 2000-2, § 3, at 4, Laws of Fla. in Florida. Also, while his federal habeas petition was pending, Diaz filed two habeas petitions in this Court. See Diaz v. Moore, 828 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 2001); Diaz v. Crosby, 869 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 2003).

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, an application for a writ of habeas corpus in a federal court may be granted if the applicant has exhausted the remedies available in the state courts. Thus, had Diaz raised a lethal injection claim in either of his two state habeas petitions that were filed after lethal injection was adopted as the method of execution in Florida, he could have then raised the claim in his initial federal habeas petition that was pending from 1999 until 2004. However, Diaz did not utilize this avenue that was available to him. Thus, it was due to his own lack of diligence that he missed the opportunity to challenge execution by lethal injection in a federal habeas action. Accordingly, we find no violation of Diaz's due process rights and no basis for striking down section 27.702 as unconstitutional. We deny Diaz's petition for all writs relief.

Section 27.702 does not deny Cox *any right* to challenge lethal injection in a federal civil action, it only denies use

of his taxpayer-supplied capital counsel for doing so. His attack on the statute is no more than a request for an unwarranted extension of his statutory right to counsel. As the found to be court below properly this challenge both procedurally barred and without merit, this Court should affirm the summary rejection of this claim. See also Henyard v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S629, 631 (Fla. Sept. 10, 2008) (noting that recent caselaw from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals did not undermine or call into question this Court's ruling in Diaz).

ARGUMENT III

VENOUS ACCESS CLAIM

In his third claim, Cox asserts that current or future health condition may cause concerns over obtaining venous access during any lethal injection procedure. The trial court summarily denied relief stating:

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